**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

ON CERTIORARI TO Horry COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000240

---

RECEIVED  
OCT 31 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Timothy Young,

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.  
S.C. Bar No. 101260  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Is the PCR court's finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the qualification of two non-scientific experts when the State did not introduce any information about their reliability supported by any probative evidence or controlled by an error of law?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Timothy Young ("Young") is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Horry County Clerk of Court. Young was indicted at the March 2011 term of the Horry County Grand Jury for criminal sexual conduct with a minor, first degree (2011-GS-26-01088), and lewd act on a minor child (2011-GS-26-01089). Paul V. Cannarella, Esq. represented Young, and Candice Lively, Esq., of the Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office, prosecuted the case. On April 4, 2011, Young proceeded to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury. The jury found Young guilty as indicted on April 7, 2011. Judge Culbertson sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for concurrent terms of 25 years for the CSC and 10 years for the lewd act.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal and a direct appeal was perfected by Laura L. Hiller, Esq., and Jonathan M. Hiller, Esq. who raised the following issue:

Should Appellant's case be remanded to the trial court for further proceedings due to an error of law committed by the trial judge when he categorically denied Appellant access to all notes in a file maintained by a therapist, who testified for the State, on the basis that the notes contained in her file were non-discoverable material?

By unpublished opinion decided June 5, 2013, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Young's convictions. State v. Young, Op. No. 2013-UP-236 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 5, 2013). Young moved to reconsider the opinion by motion filed June 20, 2013, which was denied by order filed August 22, 2013. Young petitioned the Supreme Court of South Carolina for a writ of certiorari, which was denied by order dated January 8, 2014. The Remittitur was issued on January 31, 2014.

Young filed his application for post-conviction relief on November 6, 2014 (2014-CP-26-07509). He alleged the following grounds for relief in his application, as amended by filing on May 2, 2016:

1. "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make contemporaneous objection to Trial Court ruling Denis Scearce's notes were 'not discoverable' because they were 'notes'"
  - a. "Ct. of Appeals declined to review issues raised due to lack of a contemporaneous objection"
2. "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to conduct a meaningful and thorough cross examination of the alleged victim"
  - a. "Counsel failed to engage in a line of questioning with the alleged victim about an assertion she made to a social worker that the Defendant never sexually abused her"
3. "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to call a key witness who could have told the jury that the alleged victim said the Defendant never sexually abused her"
  - a. "Counsel failed to call social worker who alleged victim informed that the Defendant never sexually abused her, even though she was under subpoena"
4. "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to Denise Scearce being qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment when there was no testimony offered as to her 'reliability' which resulted in improperly admitted testimony that bolstered the victim's testimony"
  - a. "Counsel did not object to the qualification of Denise Scearce as an expert when there was not testimony, or other evidence, offered that her work had ever been published or peer reviewed in any way in violation of State v. Chavis (2015) and State v. White (2009)"
5. "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to Diane Nordeen being qualified as an expert in child development as it relates to forensic interviewing when there was no testimony offered as to her 'reliability' which resulted in improperly admitted testimony that bolstered the victim's testimony"
  - a. "Counsel did not object to the qualification of Diane Nordeen as an expert when there was no testimony, or other evidence, offered that her work had ever been published or peer reviewed in any way in violation of State v. Chavis (2015) and State v. White (2009)"

The State made its return on April 1, 2016, and an evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on May 12, 2016, before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. Young was present at the

hearing and represented by David B. Tarr, Esq. Jessica E. Kinard, Esq., of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the State. By written order dated January 3, 2017, and filed January 6, 2017, Judge Burch granted the application for post-conviction relief.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### a. The abuse

CT lived primarily in the custody her biological father, Michael Chad Turbeville (“Chad”), and stepmother, Jennifer Turbeville (“Jennifer”), in North Carolina. (Appx. 100-04; Appx. 162-63). Every other weekend, CT would visit her biological mother, Nicole Skovinski (“Nicole”). (Appx. 104, ll. 1-11). The relationship between Chad and Nicole for maintaining the terms of custody was unstable—Nicole abused drugs, was inconsistent in showing up to exchange custody, and frequently appeared with new affections unfamiliar to Chad. (Appx. 104-05; Appx. 164, ll. 18-25). In that context, Nicole’s marriage to Young was a great relief to Chad, who found Young to be “a very level headed, nice guy.” (Appx. 105-06).

In the summer of 2008, Chad and Jennifer became concerned with CT’s behavior. CT would regularly complain of stomachaches while she was at school. (Appx. 109, ll. 15-18; Appx. 168-70). CT would soil herself, curl into a fetal position, and scream.<sup>1</sup> (Appx. 109, ll. 19-20; Appx. 166-68). When Chad would drop CT off at school, she would get out of the car, then run back and demand Chad not leave. (Appx. 109, ll. 20-23). CT would wake suddenly in the night and complain of nightmares about Young lurking in the night. (Appx. 109-10; Appx. 213, ll. 6-11). The school counselor made note that CT changed from a bubbly, giggly kindergartener to an anxious, fearful, clinging child who accumulated an unusual number of absences in the 2008-2009 school year. (Appx. 371-74). Chad and Jennifer determined that the problems were usually occurring after CT returned from visitation with Nicole and Young. (Appx. 110, ll. 5-12; Appx. 166-67). On August 18, 2008, Chad took CT to child therapist Denise Scearce for treatment. (Appx. 110-11; Appx. 135, ll. 11-20; Appx. 168, ll. 4-12).

---

<sup>1</sup> Not necessarily all at once.

On October 31, 2008, CT visited Nicole and Young in Myrtle Beach. On November 4, 2008, after returning to Chad and Jennifer, CT disclosed that Nicole touched her: “my mama does nasty things to me.” (Appx. 112-14; Appx. 170-71; Appx. 173, ll. 17-19; Appx. 190, ll. 7-16). CT explained Nicole would take baths with her and thereafter apply Neosporin on her privates. (Appx. 193, ll. 12-22; Appx. 206-07). Chad and Jennifer took CT to Scarce for additional therapy and contacted the Department of Social Services. (Appx. 171, ll. 2-16). CT did not go back to Nicole’s house in Myrtle Beach after the disclosure, pursuant to the advice of social services and Chad’s attorney. (Appx. 140-41; Appx. 171, ll. 20-25; Appx. 173, ll. 20-22). Nonetheless, Nicole managed to stay in contact with the children by leaving cards for them with the principal of their school, despite investigation by the Department of Social Services and assurances by the school district’s attorney that she would not be permitted on school grounds. (Appx. 142-43; Appx. 173-74). CT’s behavioral issues thereafter continued: complaints of headaches and stomachaches, screaming, fear, erratic sleep schedules, and refusals to sleep in her own bedroom. (Appx. 174-75). Jennifer asked Scarce to write a letter to the school addressing the incident, and Scarce did so. (Appx. 175, ll. 11-20).

On January 14, 2009, CT made a second disclosure to Jennifer, this time regarding sexual abuse by Young. (Appx. 115-17; Appx. 180-81; Appx. 190, ll. 17-23; Appx. 210-12). CT told her “[t]hat [Young] licked a little above my front privacy part and that he – sometimes put his finger in my front privacy part.” (Appx. 212, ll. 8-18). Jennifer wept. (Appx. 212, ll. 19-23).

Young had touched and licked CT multiple times, and instructed CT to not tell Nicole, so CT told Jennifer. (Appx. 214-15). CT explained: “I’d have my shirt on and he’d pull down my pants and I tried to pull them back up but then he would try to pull them back down.” (Appx. 215-16). Young would spread CT’s legs, and she would struggle to keep them close together.

(Appx. 217, ll. 3-17). Young was stronger than the seven-year-old. (Appx. 216, ll. 2-8). Sometimes Young only touched the outside, sometimes Young penetrated CT with his finger, which hurt. (Appx. 217, ll. 18-25). CT only felt comfortable disclosing one incident at a time. (Appx. 218-19). CT was relieved by disclosing the abuse, and the nightmares eventually ceased haunting her. (Appx. 212-13; Appx. 220, ll. 12-16).

Chad and Jennifer contacted DSS and Scarce again after the second disclosure. (Appx. 117-18; Appx. 182, ll. 9-18). Chad additionally reported the disclosures to the Myrtle Beach Police Department. (Appx. 118-119; Appx. 302-03). Officer Joe Graham, of the Myrtle Beach Police Department, referred CT to the Children's Recovery Center for a forensic interview. (Appx. 301, ll. 13-21; Appx. 305, ll. 2-18). CT was interviewed on February 17, 2018. (Appx. 350, ll. 7-10). Several days after the forensic interview, upon reviewing the report from the Children's Recovery Center, Officer Graham proceeded in bringing charges against Young. (Appx. 306, ll. 9-13).<sup>2</sup>

Chad ultimately moved to terminate visitations by filing on February 18, 2009. (Appx. 119-120). Chad filed no motions regarding Nicole's visitation rights prior to that date, but Nicole did so file. (Appx. 120, ll. 9-12; Appx. 121-126; Appx. 130-31; Appx. 188-90). A hearing was scheduled for January 13, 2009. (Appx. 122, ll. 1-6; Appx. 126, ll. 3-9; Appx. 296-97). Chad denied coaching CT, and denied the disclosures were a fabrication to justify termination of Nicole's visitation rights. (Appx. 127, ll. 4-10).

No pornography was kept in the home, and the children were only permitted use of the computer with Chad or Jennifer present. (Appx. 127, ll. 15-25; Appx. 183-84). CT was not

---

<sup>2</sup> On cross-examination, Counsel drew out from Officer Graham that CT had specifically denied Young ever touched her in a conversation with a North Carolina DSS worker. (Appx. 307-08).

permitted to see R-rated movies, and had never seen Chad and Jennifer engage in intercourse. (Appx. 128, ll. 1-7; Appx. 183-84).

CT was not medically examined until outside of the crucial 72-hour window. (Appx. 382-83). Even had she been examined shortly after the abuse, the character of the abuse was such that physical injury was not likely. (Appx. 383-84). CT's physical examination revealed no abnormalities. (Appx. 384-85). Dr. Carol Rahter opined Nicole's application of "any kind of cream or ointment" to CT's genitalia was unusual. (Appx. 385-86). Rahter also explained that "[g]reater than 90 percent of children who are sexually abused have normal exams and the majority of the reason for that is delayed disclosure." (Appx. 391, ll. 14-16).

**b. Expert qualification and testimony of Denise Scearce**

Denise Scearce, a counselor in private practice in North Carolina, was offered by the State as an expert in child sexual abuse counseling and treatment. (Appx. 240, ll. 20-22). Scearce's qualifications were exhaustively explored by both the State and Counsel. (Appx. 237-48). Scearce indicated 17 ½ to 18 years of postgraduate experience in providing mental health services to children and families. (Appx. 238, ll. 5-10). Scearce had testified in at least 75 custody disputes and one other criminal matter. (Appx. 238, ll. 11-15). Scearce indicated she was specifically trained as a mental health professional to work with "high conflict families in situations where it may be emotionally abusive for children or traumatizing." (Appx. 238-39). Scearce testified she maintained her continuing education requirements, and was a member of a number of professional organizations. (Appx. 240, ll. 4-10). Scearce indicated she had been qualified to testify in court as an expert in the past, for "[m]ental health issues for children, child sexual abuse and high conflict families." (Appx. 240, ll. 11-19). She is authorized to make mental disorder diagnoses. (Appx. 241, ll. 6-8). Put simply, she was trained to conduct therapy

and treat mental disorders short of writing a prescription for medication, for which she would write a referral to a psychiatrist. (Appx. 244-45). Searce explained she regularly reads books, articles, and literature regarding child sex abuse, and maintains regular contact with experts in the field at the University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill. (Appx. 246-47). Upon inquiry by the trial court, Searce articulated a variety of diagnoses she regularly makes. (Appx. 247, ll. 11-19). The trial court found Searce to be an expert “in the field of child sexual abuse counseling and treatment.” (Appx. 247-48). Counsel did not object Searce’s qualification.

Searce testified that her first step in meeting a child is to ask the parents about what concerns them—here, Searce learned CT was anxious, found curled up in a fetal position at school and prone to angry outbursts. (Appx. 249, ll. 6-13). Searce was told CT most often presented symptoms after visiting Nicole and Young. (Appx. 249, ll. 16-20). Nobody mentioned abuse to Searce during her initial assessment. (Appx. 250-51). Searce was first informed of potential abuse at a November 6, 2008, session with CT. (Appx. 251, ll. 6-16). Considering the allegations that Nicole walked around naked and applied Neosporin to CT’s genitalia, Searce opined she wasn’t sure it constituted abuse, but reported the allegations to DSS as a precaution. (Appx. 251-52).

Searce explained CT’s condition in their sessions together:

She was very much in distress and there was a lot of anxiety. There was some acting out. It seemed she was more anxious than she was angry, but there was a concern that she was having trouble sleeping, she was already looking like a child who was becoming sick. When she would come to my office I would see that she had dark circles under her eyes, and when I asked her how she was sleeping at night she said, “I’m not sleeping at all,” and that’s when I made a referral as well to a psychiatrist to assess her for depression.

(Appx. 252-53). Searce referred CT to a psychiatrist, who diagnosed CT with post-traumatic stress disorder and prescribed her Prozac. (Appx. 253, ll. 10-18). Searce initially diagnosed CT

with “adjustment disorder with anxious mood[,]” concurred with the psychiatrist’s diagnosis during the height of her symptoms, and returned to her original diagnosis in light of CT’s condition at the time of trial. (Appx. 254-55). Victim’s condition regressed after Nicole delivered the letters to CT’s school, and so Scarce wrote a letter to the school addressing the situation. (Appx. 255-58). Throughout this first phase of CT’s treatment, Scarce had no indication of any abuse or inappropriate actions performed by anybody other than CT’s mother. (Appx. 255-56).

Scarce saw CT on January 16, 2009, at which time CT made her second disclosure. (Appx. 259-60). The counselor immediately wrote a report and sent it to DSS, who referred to law enforcement. (Appx. 260, ll. 3-19). Scarce asked CT why she did not previously mention “the second situation” when disclosing Nicole’s conduct, to which CT replied “that she needed to tell me one at a time and from her standpoint meaning that she needed to tell about her mother first.” (Appx. 261, ll. 3-7). Scarce explained her opinions as to why CT disclosed in stages:

I have my opinion about why she may have done that, and of course, with the way children at this age anyway will disclose the information, you know, there was a lot of things happening during that time. I do feel that she was in a situation where she felt that she could tell about her mother first because her mother actually had made a threat about the safety of her father and her stepmother and also it was a situation where during that time [CT] didn’t have contact with her mother, that the second disclosure I believe she felt safer to talk about that situation.

(Appx. 261, ll. 13-22). Scarce noted the disclosures and their details were different. (Appx. 261-62). Scarce testified she has never performed a “forensic interview.” (Appx. 262, ll. 3-17). The counselor explored the science explaining “delayed or piecemeal disclosure by a child” in some detail, and expressed that she was not surprised by the piecemeal character of the disclosures. (Appx. 264-66). Scarce opined CT’s symptoms were consistent with sexual abuse,

but the testimony was stricken upon repeated objections by Counsel. (Appx. 266-67). Scarce ceased treating CT in July or August 2009, after agreeing with Chad and Jennifer that the sessions could be exacerbating her behavioral issues. (Appx. 269-70).

On cross-examination, Scarce agreed with Counsel that “in some high conflict situations there have been cases where there has been false allegations.” (Appx. 274-75). Scarce agreed with Counsel that there is no symptom checklist to determine a child has been sexually abused. (Appx. 275-76). Counsel thoroughly explored through Scarce the concerns CT and her sister had expressed regarding Nicole—Nicole expressed her desire for primary custody, threatened the children if they stuck up for their father, and as such the children were worried for their father’s safety. (Appx. 278-80). Counsel drew parallels between CT’s disclosures about Nicole and about Young, noting in both instances she claimed to have been touched in her privates by an adult’s knuckle. (Appx. 283, ll. 3-25). Counsel challenged Scarce that the precise words of CT’s second disclosure indicated contamination, i.e., that she had developed false memories through talking with others. (Appx. 284-86). Counsel further challenged Scarce on the root cause of CT’s distress in the wake of Nicole’s delivery of a birthday card to her through the school, and on Scarce’s decision to write a letter to the school advocating for Jennifer to be permitted on school grounds. (Appx. 289-94).

**c. Expert qualification and testimony of Diane Nordeen**

Diane Nordeen, of the Children’s Recovery Center, was proffered outside the presence of the jury as an expert “[i]n forensic interviewing and child development.” (Appx. 315-16). Nordeen has a bachelor of science in psychology. (Appx. 317, ll. 12-14). Nordeen explained her training and experience in forensic interviewing, and described it as “a specific training to elicit a statement from a child in a non-leading fashion in a child friendly manner.” (Appx. 317-18).

Nordeen indicated she followed the RATAC form of forensic interviewing and affirmed the description of it offered by the prosecutor. (Appx. 318-21). Notably, Nordeen indicated 19 years of experience in working with and providing services to children. (Appx. 319, ll. 11-19; Appx. 333-34).

On cross-examination under proffer, Counsel specifically questioned Nordeen on the scientific basis of the RATAC method and its purpose:

Q. And the – this method is recognized in the scientific laws?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Tell me how that is.

A. It's recognized through many research projects conducted both in its support and in an attempt to refute it. It's used – also recognized for the number of interviews that have been done using it.

Q. And that method is the method that's accepted, that's generally accepted in the community I guess of forensic interviewers *to ensure reliability*?

A. Yes.

Q. Reliability in what way?

A. *Reliability that it's not leading*, that it's a non-leading protocol to follow that allows the child to provide the details of what they've experienced in a non-leading fashion.

(Appx. 321-22) (emphasis added). Nordeen explained her purpose as an expert would not be to offer an opinion, but only “[t]o provide the information about my interview process that I used to provide the jury information regarding the process that I used.” (Appx. 323, ll. 1-14). Nordeen explicitly denied she would assert CT was telling the truth. (Appx. 323, ll. 12-14). The trial court questioned why Nordeen needed to be qualified as an expert at all if she would not be offering an opinion on anything, but only explaining her methodology, at which point the prosecutor explained the need to question Nordeen on CT's development as a child. (Appx. 323-29). The trial court qualified Nordeen “as an expert in the field of forensic interviewing and

child development, more in the field of child development because I think that's where she's going to be rendering her opinion testimony rather than in the forensic interviewing portion part." (Appx. 328-29). Despite the proffer, the trial court indicated it would permit Counsel to cross-examine Nordeen on her qualifications before the jury. (Appx. 328, ll. 23-24).

Much of the same exchange occurred before the jury. Nordeen testified to her employment with the Children's Recovery Center, and described its purpose as to provide "a plea where a child can be interviewed and examined after an allegation of sexual abuse has occurred." (Appx. 331, ll. 2-14). Nordeen described herself as a forensic interviewer and described a forensic interview as "a non-leading interview that is used to elicit a factual statement from a child." (Appx. 332, ll. 3-9). Nordeen explained she followed the RATAC protocol. (Appx. 332-33). Nordeen provided a history of her training, education, and work experience. (Appx. 333-34). On cross-examination, Nordeen confirmed Counsel's description of forensic interviewing as "just simply interviewing the child where there's been some allegations." (Appx. 335, ll. 4-16). Nordeen was qualified "in the field of child development as it relates to forensic interviewing." (Appx. 335, ll. 18-20). Counsel did not object. (Appx. 335, line 17).

Nordeen received a referral for an interview of CT from Officer Graham on February 10, 2009. (Appx. 336, ll. 5-7). Nordeen explained the Children's Recovery Center only conducts interviews upon referral from law enforcement, doctors' offices, and therapists when there is a suspicion "that something may be going on with the child." (Appx. 336-37). Nordeen explained understanding the level of a child's development was important in determining the approach to the forensic interview. (Appx. 337-38). Nordeen denied reading any notes from prior interviews or sessions with CT in order to "keep an open mind and to consider that there might be an

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