STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

ON CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000240

Timothy Young, Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina, Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID B. TARR

S.C. Bar # 8803

1313 Elmwood Avenue

Columbia, SC 29201

(803) 238-7967

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
MAR 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR Court's finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the qualification of two non-scientific experts when the State did not introduce any evidence of their reliability was correct, completely supported by the record, and the correct legal standard was applied.**

The findings of fact and conclusion of law in the PCR court's order are correct and the Granting of Post-Conviction Relief should be upheld. The Petitioner's arguments strain credulity and defy basic logical principles. The Respondent will, when relevant to his argument, outline some of the specious claims made by the Petitioner.

First, Petitioner attempts to claim that the PCR court's Order is erroneously based on State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015). The petitioner argues that trial counsel should not be required to be clairvoyant and predict future case law. This assertion is correct. However, the PCR court's order was based on State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009) which was in existence at the time of the trial of this case. In fact, trial counsel admitted at the PCR hearing that he was aware of White, but that he failed to object to either witness Scarce or Nordeen being qualified as an expert even though no evidence of their reliability was presented by the State. As for Chavis, it was merely included in the Order as a footnote to help further explain why trial counsel's deficient performance was not harmless, but in fact quite prejudicial.

At the trial of this case, Ms. Denise Scarce was qualified as an expert in child abuse counseling and treatment.¹ APP. pp. 247-48. Typically, in child sex cases, the State will attempt to qualify witnesses as experts in an effort to provide legitimacy to and support the credibility of child sexual abuse victims. These tactics have also been used by the State at times to improperly bolster the testimony of alleged child sexual abuse victims. This is a practice that is at times frowned upon and discouraged by appellate courts. In this case, analyzing whether or not witnesses should have been qualified as experts is critical. This again is due to the fact that the only evidence against the applicant at his trial was the testimony of the 9 year old alleged victim.

In White, this Court established the standard that should be used in determining whether to qualify witnesses providing non-scientific testimony as experts. Under White, there is a two-pronged test that must be met before a witness providing non-scientific testimony may be qualified as an expert witness. First, the qualifications of the witness must be sufficient. Second, there must be a determination that the expert's testimony will be reliable. Both the Respondent and Petitioner agree that this witness had sufficient qualifications. But, as evidenced by the wording of the Petitioner's question presented, there was no evidence of the witness' reliability offered. In fact, there was absolutely no testimony in the record that would shed light on the relative reliability or unreliability of the testimony sought to be offered by Ms. Scarce. (Tr. Tr. Generally). The Appellant attempts to argue that State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) holds that the reliability of a witness's testimony is not a prerequisite to determining whether or not a witness is an expert and that the real question is the reliability of the underlying area of expertise. This is absolutely preposterous. If the petitioner's logic were the actual law of this state, then every witness who had training, education, and experience in a particular field would be an expert as long as the thinking in that field was deemed reliable. The

¹ It is interesting to note that Ms. Scarce had only been qualified as an expert one time in a criminal case prior to this case.

reliability of the actual witness would be irrelevant. Therefore, any witness who was trained in DNA analysis would be an expert even if that particular person bungled every analysis he or she ever performed. What Tapp *does* say is that you don't look at whether the witness's testimony is reliable, rather you determine the potential reliability of the witness *prior* to that witness being qualified.

A closer look at Tapp reveals that the Supreme Court found that *the trial court had erred in not vetting the reliability of the proposed expert's testimony prior to qualifying the witness as an expert*. However, the Court went on to find that this error was harmless because the other evidence in the case was sufficient to convict Tapp. As is argued in this Brief, the trial court's error of not properly vetting the testimony of Searce and Nordeen prior to qualifying them as expert witnesses in this case could never be viewed as harmless under any objective analysis. The reason for this assertion is that the only evidence in this case was the testimony of a nine year old girl involved in a heated custody dispute and the qualifications of these two witnesses as experts was done solely to explain and add credence to the testimony of the nine year old. Therefore, it cannot be said that the trial court's error in not properly vetting the testimony of either of these witnesses for reliability prior to qualifying them as experts was harmless.

Petitioner's reliance on State v. Jones, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018) is also misplaced. Under Jones, petitioner argues that trial courts are "tasked only with determining whether *the basis* for the expert's opinion is sufficiently reliable such that it may be offered into evidence." While this is a correct quote from Jones, it is taken out of context and thus misstates the law of this State. What the Supreme Court does hold in Jones is that in keeping with White and Chavis, the trial court in Jones *does* properly vet the witness's testimony prior to qualifying the witness as an expert because testimony was elicited that indicated that the opinions in the witness's testimony were supported by peer-reviewed professional journals and trade publications. Furthermore, testimony was elicited during voir dire that the witness herself participated in the peer review process and had given numerous presentations on

the subject. In this case, no testimony or evidence was offered in voir dire (or at any stage) as to Scearce or Nordeens' opinions were supported by peer-reviewed publications or that they had participated in the peer review process or that either witness had given numerous presentations on the subject of their testimony to any other professionals in their respective fields.

At the P.C.R hearing, Mr. Cannerella acknowledged that he did not object to the lack of testimony provided during voir dire of the witness pre-qualification regarding her reliability. APP. p. 788. He testified that he was familiar with State v. White. APP. p. 786. However, he acknowledged that there was no testimony offered as to Ms. Scearce's reliability and yet he did not object. Under State v. White, counsel's failure to object was deficient and that because of the nature of the evidence in this case, was clearly prejudicial.

In the present case, other than the testimony of CT, there was no other evidence of guilt offered by the State against the Defendant at trial. Under these circumstances, the improper qualification of Ms. Scearce is far from harmless. The credibility of the child witness was the cornerstone of the state's case. Any testimony improperly admitted that would tend to enhance CT's credibility is not harmless. In State v. Mitchell, 378 S.C. 305, 662 S.E.2d 493 (2008) this Court found that "whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case (Id. At 316, 499). Furthermore, this court stated in State v. Mizell, 349 S.C. 326, 334, 563 S.E.2d 315, 319 (2002) that when determining whether or not a trial error is harmless the reviewing Court must look to "whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict". Therefore, the PCR court was correct to grant a new trial on this issue, because due to the nature of the evidence in this case it cannot be said that the result would have been the same beyond a reasonable doubt if the witness had not been qualified.

The Petitioner argues that the "expert witnesses" did not testify about any conclusions as to the minor child, so their reliability is irrelevant. However, the improper qualifying of witness Scarce is even more troubling due to the specific nature of her testimony. Ms. Scarce was allowed, because of her expert qualification, to explain to the jury why CT's delayed reporting was normal for child sex victims. APP. pp. 261-266. This improper bolstering of the credibility of the only witness offering evidence against the defendant is untenable. Also, Ms. Scarce was allowed to comment on and bring into evidence the findings of another doctor who examined CT but did not testify at trial. APP. pp. 268-69. She testified that Dr. Frank Stevens found CT to be suffering from PTSD. She would not have been allowed to bring this evidence out if she had not been improperly qualified as an expert. This further affected the applicant's quest for a fair trial because his attorney was unable to cross examine Dr. Stevens. Such a cross examination could have uncovered that CT's PTSD could have been caused by the abuse she suffered at the hands of her mother, as opposed to any alleged actions by Respondent. The Petitioner attempts to argue that trial counsel's failure to object was not ineffective because it was a valid trial strategy to not object to the lack of reliability testimony offered by the State as to these two "expert witnesses". However, it is precisely these types of statements made by Denise Scarce at the trial that make the failure to object to her being qualified as a witness so egregious. When there is no other evidence of guilt but the word of a young child involved in a heated custody battle, any improper bolstering testimony by a so-called expert that should not have been qualified as such cannot be harmless. For example, there have been numerous S.C. cases where appellate courts have ruled that the strategy to not object employed by trial counsel was not valid. These cases include: Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 157, 551 S.E.2d 260, 263 (2001) (the jury might think "he was trying to hide something") and in Gallman v. State, 307 S.C. 273, 276-77, 414 S.E.2d 780, 782 (1992) (did not want to confuse or upset the jury). Similarly, in this case, it was clearly not a valid trial strategy for trial counsel to not object to the qualification of these two witnesses because he "didn't want to do anything to make

the jury to think that she's some great kind of witness". If he had objected, the witnesses may and should not have been qualified as experts and then jury may have never heard from them. The qualification of Denise Scarce as an expert and the resulting testimony was completely improper and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object. Therefore, the PCR Court's ruling was the only correct ruling that could have been made.

As to witness Diane Nordeen, at the trial of this case Ms. Diane Nordeen was qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment as it relates to forensic interviewing. APP. p. 335. Typically, in child sex cases, the State will attempt to qualify witnesses as experts in an effort to provide legitimacy to and support the credibility of child sexual abuse victims. These tactics have also been used by the State at times to improperly bolster the testimony of alleged child sexual abuse victims. This is a practice that is at times frowned upon and discouraged by appellate courts. In this case, analyzing whether or not witnesses should have been qualified as experts is critical. This again is due to the fact that the only evidence against applicant at his trial was the testimony of nine year old alleged victim who was involved in a heated custody battle.

Again, in State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), this Court established the standard that should be used in determining whether to qualify witnesses providing non-scientific testimony as experts.

Under White, there is a two pronged test that must be met before a witness providing non-scientific testimony may be qualified as an expert witness. First, the qualifications of the witness must be sufficient. Second, there must be a determination that the expert's testimony will be reliable. Both the Respondent and Petitioner agree that this witness had sufficient qualifications. However, there was absolutely no testimony in the record that would shed light on the relative reliability or unreliability of the testimony of Ms. Nordeen.

Again, at the PCR hearing, Mr. Cannerella acknowledged that he did not object to the lack of testimony provided during voir dire of the witness pre-qualification regarding her reliability. APP p. 788. He testified that he was familiar with State v. White. However, he acknowledged that there was no testimony offered as to Ms. Nordeen's reliability and yet he did not object. Under State v. White, the PCR Court found that counsel's failure to object was deficient and that because of the nature of the evidence in this case (or lack thereof), was clearly prejudicial. And similarly, as was the case with Ms. Scarce, it was not a valid trial strategy to not object to the qualification of the witness when there was no evidence of her reliability.

In the present case, other than the testimony of CT, there was no other evidence of guilt offered by the State against the Defendant at trial. The PCR Court found that due to the nature of the evidence in this case that the improper qualification of Ms. Nordeen was far from harmless. Again, in Mitchell, this Court found that "whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. Furthermore, again this court stated in Mizell, that when determining whether or not a trial error is harmless the reviewing Court must look to "whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict". Therefore, the PCR court was correct to grant a new trial on this issue, because due to the nature of the evidence in this case it cannot be said that the result would have been the same beyond a reasonable doubt if the witness had not been qualified. The credibility of the child witness was the cornerstone of the state's case. Any testimony improperly admitted that would tend to enhance CT's credibility is not harmless. Therefore, it was correct for the PCR Court to rule that a new trial must be granted on this issue.